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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

KARIN WOLF, Individually and on
Behalf of D.C. and G.C.
Civil Action No. 14-5985
Plaintiffs,
CPINION

V. : May 20,2015
GERALD C. ESCALA, et al., -

Defendants.

ARLEO, UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE.

Before this Court are motions to dismiss pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) by the following defendar{ts} Peter Van Aulen, Esq. [Dkt. No. 8]; (2)
Good Shepherd Lutheran Church, Roger Werger, and Janet Tenore (the “Good Shepherd
Defendants”) [Dkt. No. 14]; (3) thAdvisory Committee on JudadiConduct (the “ACJC"), the
Appellate Division of the Supemni Court of New Jersey (the Ppellate Division”), the Bergen
County Family Court of the SuperiCourt of New Jersey (th@&ergen County Family Court”),
the Office of Court Administration, Judge Victdshrafi, Judge Harry G. Carroll, Judge William
R. DeLorenzo, Judge Peter Doyne, Judge G&aldscala, Judge John C. Kennedy, Judge Ellen
L. Koblitz, Judge Bonnie J. Mizdol, Judge Williai Nugent, Judge Jere M. St. John, Judge
Joseph L. Yannotti, Chief Justice StuartbRer, Kathy Katona, Esq., and Diana Moskal
(collectively, the “Judiciary Defedants”) [Dkt. No. 19]; (4) the Office of the County Counsel (the

“OCC") [Dkt. No. 20]; (5) Lisa Estrin [DktNo. 21]; (6) Luciana Coutinho, Marleni Coutinho,
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Plinio Coutinho (collectively, the “Coutinhos™and Edward J. Crane [Dkt. No. 22]; (7) Dionos
Burgos, Sandra Cruz, the DivisiohYouth and Family ServicSDYFS,” now known as “Child
Protection and Permanency”), Erika Frank, Deltbeamez, Tara Horne, Ivan Nina, and Patrick
Yan (collectively, the “DYFS Diendants”) [Dkt. No. 31]; and (8) Judith Brown Greif (“Dr.
Greif”) [Dkt. No. 32] Pro se Plaintiff Karin Wolf opposéisese motions. No oral argument was
heard pursuant to Federal Rule of CiviloBedure 78 and Local Civil Rule 78.1. Upon
consideration of the paes’ submissions in connection withis motion, and for the reasons set
forth herein, all motions al8RANTED.
l. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Plaintiff initiated this action on behalf dferself and her two children, D.C. and G.C.
(collectively, the “Children”), on September 24, 2014. Dkt. No. 1, Compl. Although Plaintiff's
120-page Complaint is somewhat difficult to g¢da@r, this action appardy arises out of
Plaintiff’'s 2007 divorce from her husband, Edwé&néne, and ensuing child custody proceedings
that ended with the Bergen County Familgut awarding legal and physical custody of the
Children to Mr. Crane on August 30, 2013. See iBaIB7. In this lawsuit, Plaintiff names as
defendants essentially any person or entity \aitly conceivable connection to the state court
custody proceedings. See id. 11 30-75. The custadgedings are therefore at the heart of the
Complaint.

A. Custody Proceedings

1 Dr. Greif initially answered the Complaion November 18, 2014, See Dkt. No. 18. Thus,
insofar as Dr. Greif moves to dismiss for failurestate a claim, the Court will treat the motion as
one for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Ra(c) and 12(h)(2). This distinction is
immaterial, since the standard refview is the same for motions pursuant to Rules 12(b)(6) and
12(c). See Revell v. Port Auth. of N.&.N.J., 498 F.3d 128, 134 (3d Cir. 2010).
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Plaintiff and Mr. Crane were married in 2080d have two childretogether. _Id. {1 35,
86. Shortly after marrying, Plaintiff claims ther. Crane subjected her to all manner of abuse
that ultimately led Plaintiff tdile for divorce for the first time in 2005. See id. 11 94-98. Rather
than go through with the divorce, however, Riffimgreed to enter marriage counseling, which
lasted for one-and-a-half yeadsl. § 98. Plaintiff alleges that slultimately left the marital home
with the Children on September 29, 2006, “due tmestic violence.”_lId.  86. On December 1,
2006, Plaintiff was named the custodial pareat@gndente lite hearing. Id. On January 17, 2007,
Plaintiff and Mr. Crane enteredt;ma consent order in which thagreed to jmt legal custody,
with Plaintiff remaining as the custodial parent. 1d. A final judgnoénlivorce was thereafter
entered on May 22, 2007. _Id. 1 86. Plaintiff claitmat following their separation and divorce
and continuing through the present, Mr. Crane “bsed” and abused Plaintiff and the Children.

Id. 1 87, 101; see also id. 11 102- As a result, Plaiift alleges that she “moved herself and the

Children to Florham Park to put distance ketw them and [Mr. Crane].” Id.  108.

Significant custody issues firatose in January 2010, when.Mirane filed suit (through
his attorney, Defendant Peter W#ulen, Esq.) against Plaintifilleging, inter_alia, parental
alienation. _Id. § 109. Plaintiff claims that MBrane’s motion papers camhed false statements
and that he manufactured frauell evidence._Ild. The subsegueroceedings resulted in the
entry of another consent order, which include@greement to use a “parenting coordinator.” 1d.
1 110. Plaintiff then began a new job on Novemb, 2010, in Manhattan, which apparently led
to a dispute regarding Mr. Crasevisitation rights with the Chitén. Id. § 112. Plaintiff also

states that she moved to Staten IdJasew York, around this time. Id. 7 114.



Because Plaintiff moved out of New Jersey, Krane filed an order to show cause on
February 1, 2011. Id. § 115. Irsponse to Mr. Crane’s filing, &htiff cross-moved for various
forms of relief, including:

[F]or denial of [Mr. Crane’s] motion in enéty, [Mr. Crane] to be held in contempt

for breach of contract, child support,lesdegal custody and anger management

because [Mr. Crane] was harassing ifRl&], psychological evaluation of [Mr.

Crane], contempt for obstructing use of parenting coordinator, relief from legal

abuse, [Mr. Crane] to be deemed vexas litigant, punitive damages, tax refunds,

unreimbursed medical expenses, etc.
Id. 1 135. Defendant Judge William R. DeLorehabthe Bergen County Family Court issued an
order on March 28, 2011, denying Plaintiff's &pation in its entiety. Id. Y 37, 136.

In or about February or March of 2012, BRt#f hired Defendant Bger Radol, Esq., as her
attorney in the custody proceedings. Id.  139. In the summer of 2012, Plaintiff terminated Mr.
Radol, allegedly for failing to communicate with i, for misleading Plaintiff, and for failing
to negotiate a settlement._Id. § 142. Plainténtlapparently proceeded pro se and filed a motion
in August 2012 seeking a multitude of orders friludge DelLorenzo. Id. I 145. Judge DelLorenzo
denied Plaintiff's requests ddctober 18, 2012, and granted Mra@e temporary custody of the
Children on December 24, 2012. I1d. 11 146, 148. PFitiméin filed an application for a temporary
restraining order (“TRO”) on January 4, 2013. 1d.50. Judge DelLorenzo granted the TRO, but
after a February 2013 hearing, tieclined to enter &nal restraining orde 1d. {1 151, 153.
Plaintiff then filed yet anotheound of motions seeking various fasraf relief, all of which were
denied by Judge DelLorenzo on May 10, 2013. Id. 1 155-57.

Shortly thereafter, the caseas transferred to Defendadudge Gerald C. Escala,

apparently to preside over the custody tridiveen Plaintiff and Crane, which began on June 4,

2 All judges mentioned in the Factual Backgrduare part of the group of defendants moving
collectively to dismiss athe Judiciary Defendants.
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2013. 1d. 11 36, 153, 157, 162. Plaintiff claimatther trial attorneyDefendant Alexandra
Stremler, Esq., informed Plaintiff dhe morning of June 4 that stivas “backing out of the trial.”
Id. 1 164. Plaintiff alleges that Judge Escala peechiBtremler to withdraw after conferring with
Stremler, Van Aulen, and Defendant Judge Bomni#lizdol, the Presiding Judge for Bergen
County Family Cour?. 1d. 1 38, 165. Judge Escala thétagedly forced Plaitiff to proceed
with the trial_pro se and without an adjournmelak.  165. Plaintiff leels numerous allegations
of misconduct on the part of Judgscala and others, essentiallgiming that the custody trial
was a sham proceeding. See id. 11 167-80. Plailsifhs that attorneys Van Aulen and Stremler
conspired with Judges DelLorenzo, Escala, and Midsdbotage Plaintiff's case and violated the
Rules of Professional Conduct gudicial canons in the process. Id. 11 161, 169. Plaintiff also
takes issue with a number of Judggcala’s rulings during the triadJleging that they violated
Plaintiff's right to dueprocess._Id.  172.

For example, Plaintiff focuses specifically Defendant Dr. Judith Brown Greif’s role in
the trial. Dr. Greif is a social worker andstody evaluator who testified during the custody trial
on behalf of Mr. Crane._Id. 3, 173, 194. Plaintiff claimthat Judge Escala had a longtime
friendship with Dr. Greif which he fied to disclose. Id. § 173. @tiff further alleges that Judge
Escala improperly favored Dr. Greif's “biasedpoet.” 1d.  175. Plaintiff's allegations of
impropriety stem from her view that Dr. Greifasmisogynist and a proponesfta scientifically

unsupported theory called “Parental AlienatiSgndrome.” _Id. § 195. Plaintiff comments

3 Judge Mizdol's role in the mattis unclear from the Complainthich contains nother specific
factual allegationsancerning Judge Mizdol.



extensively on Dr. Greif's repuian and claims that Dr. Greif profits from family turmoil,
endangers children, and israapt, biased, and unethic¢alSee id. 11 196-202.

Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff alleges thatge Escala should hageedited the opinion
of Defendant Bergen Family Center (“BFC”) ratltiean that of Dr. Greif.Id. { 175. Plaintiff
states that Judge Escalaould have considered the Childsepreference, which allegedly was
“to live with their mother.” _1d.  176. Plaintifirther concludes that Judge Escala’s failure to
recognize her status as a domesgtotence victim demonstratedidge Escala’s “blatant lack of
seriousness” and rendered Judge Escala himsebaser. _Id. 11 178-7®laintiff claims that
Judges DelLorenzo and Escala therefdailed to protect childrefrom domestic violence.”_Id.
180. As stated previously, Judge Escaltere judgment after the trial on August 30, 2013,
awarding legal and physical stody of the Children to Mr. Crane._Id.  87.

Shortly thereafter, Plaintiffiled a complaint sometime duag the fall of 2013 against
Judge Escala with Defendant Advisory Conmtegton Judicial Conducthg “ACJC”) in which
she alleged judicial misconduct as described abtwe]f 64, 266. Th&CJC subsequently found
no wrongdoing and dismissed the contla Id.  267. Plaintiff claims that the ACJC failed to
conduct a proper investigation and is simfagvering up Defendants’ fraud.”_Id.

Plaintiff also sought to appedlidge Escala’s decision to thgpellate Division of the New
Jersey Superior Court (the “Appaié Division”). 1d. § 268. Platiff claims that Judge Victor

Ashrafi of the Appellate Divisin, among others, blocked her froivtaining free transcripts of the

4 Based on these allegations, Plaintiff filed anptaint with Defendant Attorney General Board
of Ethics (*"AGBOE”") seeking an investigatianto Dr. Greif. Compl. § 203. The AGBOE
informed Plaintiff that it had investigatedle matter and found no evidence of wrongdoing or
professional misconduct. Id. { 2(8laintiff attributeghis outcome to thAGBOE’s manipulation

of the investigation, which she doubt®k place in the first instancéd. Plaintiff therefore claims
that the AGBOE “has conspired with other Defamtdaas part of a corrupt organization engaging
in a pattern of racketeering@ RICO ENTERPRISE.”_Id.
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custody proceedings. Id. Apparently, Plaintiff rested that the cost of producing the trial court
transcripts be waived, a request that was oppbgé&kefendant Office of the County Counsel (the
“‘OCC"). Id. 1 269. TheAppellate Division then informed &htiff that her appeal would be
dismissed if she failed to pay the deposit tiee transcripts by égust 31, 2014._Id. | 275.
Although not expressly stated by Plaintiff, it apgetirat her appeal was dismissed shortly after
that date. Plaintiff names tigpellate Division and a numbef its judges as defendants, see
Compl. 11 42-48, claiming that they simply serveadsubber stamp” for # trial courts. _Id.
271. Plaintiff states that thepfellate Division has “died] and abett[ed] the abuse of discretion
of the lower courts,” which Plairiticlaims amounts to a patternmaicketeering. Id. Plaintiff also
implicates the OCC in this alleged scheme. Id.
B. Allegations Against Other Defendants

Other allegations in the Complaint deal watrties bearing some collateral relationship to
the custody proceedings. For completeness, the Court will briefly summarize Plaintiffs the
allegations against defendants ware currently moving to dismiss.

1. The Good Shepherd Defendants

The Good Shepherd Defendants consist efftilowing: (1) Good Shepherd Lutheran
Church, a church located in Glen Rock New Jersey; (2) Reverend Dr. Roger W. Spencer, the head
pastor of the Church; and (3anet Tenore, the Church seargt 1d. 11 66-68. Based on the
allegations in the Complaint, it appears thel@bn attended Sunday School and received Holy
Communion there. 1d. 11 181-83afitiff claims that the Good &pherd Defendants, along with
the other Defendants, “colluded to keep [Pléfihtiut of her children’s religious upbringing” by
administering Holy Communion to the Children amgiPlaintiff's wishes._Id. § 181. Plaintiff

complains that the Good Shepherd Defendtailtsd to conduct background checks on Mr. Crane



and Defendant Luciana Coutinho prio allowing them to teachuday School at the church. Id.
1 182. Plaintiff further states that the Goocke@erd Defendants are “aiding and abetting two
abusers and allowing them to influence and wtrichildren in their leurch,” which Plaintiff
claims constitutes a patternmafcketeering activity. Id.

2. Judge Doyne and Chief Justice Rabner

Plaintiff then devotes three substantive gaaphs to Judge Peter Doyne of the Bergen
County Superior Court and Chiefslice Stuart Rabner of the Newskey Supreme Court, claiming
that she has “implored [them] to take action agdihslge Escala],” but they refused to do so. Id.
19 39-40, 185-86. Plaintiff takes issue with Julgeala’s recall to the bench, which she claims
“has perpetuated an obstruction of justice and constitutional violations; and aided and abetted a
pattern of racketeering acitly.” 1d. Plaintiff claims that Jdge Escala retaliated against her for
lodging complaints with Chief Justi¢&abner and Judge Doyne. Id. § 187.

3. Lisa Estrin

Lisa Estrin is a social worker allegedlyrdd by Mr. Crane to pvide counseling to the
Children in violation of Plaintf’'s and Crane’s joint custody aggment._Id. 11 59, 205. Plaintiff
claims that Ms. Estrin was hired to skew ttngoing custody evaluations and colluded with Mr.
Crane to portray Plaintiff in a gative light. _Id. { 206-07. Ishort, Plaintiff alleges that Ms.
Estrin excluded Plaintiff from treatment deoiss and did not obtain Pidiff's consent for the
treatment. _Id. 71 211-13. Plafhiclaims that Ms. Estrin “egaged in vendor misfeasance and
malfeasance” and “profited from intentionallyrivang two children.” _Id. § 216. Ms. Estrin’s
alleged misconduct, Plaintiff asserts, amountspattern of racketeering v&h combined with the

other Defendants’ alleged support. Id.



4. Kathy Katona and Diana Moskal

Kathy Katona serves as a cbappointed mediator in Bergen County Family Court. Id. |
58. She served in that capacity on Septembe2d1A3, in connection with Rintiff's dispute with
Crane regarding the creation of a new “Pareniimge Agreement.”_1d. § 219. This mediation
was unsuccessful. _ld. At the next two mediatidtaintiff and Mr. Crane remained in separate
rooms. Id. T 221. Plaintiff clais that Ms. Katona bullied and coerced her and made offensive
comments during the mediation, whicbnstitute an intergnal infliction of emotional distress.
Id. 19 222-24.

Diana Moskal is the Family Division Manager of the Bergen County Family Court. Id. |
57. The chief factual allegation against Ms. Mos&dhat she “failed tbhandle and conclude the

custody litigation expeditiously.”_Id. § 127; sesald. | 276. Plaintiff also claims that Ms.

Moskal, along with others, delikately hid Mr. Crane’s financial farmation from her._Id. 1 313.
The balance of the allegations against Ms. Mbsknount to legal conclusions. See id. 1 228,
299, 332, 335.

5. The Coutinhos

The Coutinhos’ role is not exactly clear fraghe Complaint. Plaintiff alleges that they
“conspired with [Mr. Crane] and refused tooperate with the [custody] evaluations and

conspired to profit from [Mr. Crane’s] financiabuse of Plaintiffs to achieve the result of
obtaining and enjoying property at tlepense of Plaintiffs.”_Id. §32. Plaintiff claims later that
the Coutinhos abused the Children during DYF8&®ivement._ld. 1 241Specifically, Plaintiff
claims that she reported “physical altercatiamsl assaults [Mr. Crah and [Ms. Coutinho]
inflicted against the children.”_1d. § 243. Amted above, Luciana Coutinho is also mentioned

separately in the conteaf Plaintiff's allegdions against the Good Shepherd Defendants.



6. The DYFS Defendants

Plaintiff's allegations against the DYFS Detlants largely focus on her dissatisfaction
with the manner in which DYFS and its employbasdled her case. Sek {{ 225-55. Plaintiff
called DYFS on multiple occasions to report gdld abuse by Crane. Id.  225-27, 232, 236.
Eventually, Judge Escala intervened on Dawoer 10, 2013, admonishing Plaintiff for calling
DYFS and redirecting the agency’s involvemefd. 237-38. The family’s DYFS case worker
recommended family therapy. Id. { 239-40. Rifficontinued to allegabuse of the Children
by Crane and the Coutinhos, and she allegeshitb@YFS Defendants wenadifferent and failed
to protect the Childrenld. 11 241-45. Plaintifflaims that one of the DYFS Defendants, Patrick
Yan, is incompetent as a caseworker and “is traaally trying to brainwals the children.” _Id.
11 247-48. Plaintiff complains thislr. Yan is biased and the DYHfas failed to adequately train
workers, resulting in abuse of Children. I1d.Z#P-50. Plaintiff also devotes a portion of the
introductory section of the Complaint to critiicig child protective services in general and DYFS
in particular. _See id. 11 20-23. Plaintiff prasia DYFS a “systematic failure” and charges that
its employees are corrupt and incompetent. 1d. 1 21-22.

C. The Claims and the Relief Sought

Plaintiff instituted this action on Septemki2&4, 2014. The Complaint contains twelve
separate counts. See id. 11 281-3P&intiff alleges the followig federal claims: (1) violation
of 42 U.S.C. 88 1983 and 1985 for denial of ®iéfis 1st, 4th, and 14th Amendment righté2)

a Monell claim based on a policy, custom, or practoel (3) violation of th Racketeer Influenced

5 Count One appears to address Plaintiffsh1Amendment due process claim, Count Three
addresses Plaintiff's 1st Amendment freedomrelfgion claim, and Count Five addresses
Plaintiff's 4th Amendment unlawful search aseizure claim._See Compl. { 281-306, 319-28,
340-44.
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and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.88 1961-1968 (“RICQO”). _Id. 11 281-344. The
remainder of Plaintiff's claims are grourttim state law._See id. 1 345-93.

Plaintiff claims that she and the Children stdfi a laundry list of injues as a result of
these violations._See id. { 3951 order to remedy those injes, Plaintiff seek declaratory,
injunctive, and monetary relief various forms. _See id. § 396. To provide a few examples,
Plaintiff asks this Court to do the followindgl) declare the Bergen County Family Court
proceedings described above void ab initio ekl of subject matter jurisdiction; (2) enjoin
essentially all entities and persons connecteth@oproceedings from further involvement; (3)
order the state entities to proviB&intiff with free transcripts ahe proceedings; (4) temporarily
seize all of Defendants’ assets; (5) awd@id0 million in damages and treble damages under
RICO; and (6) award Plaintiff interest calculated from the date Mr. Crane filed his petition for
custody in Bergen County FamilyoGrt. 1d. 11 396(e), (1)-(n), (s)-(u). In addition, a large number
of Plaintiff's requests for relief are declaratory judgments ¢afitupon this Court to reorganize
the New Jersey justice system, create a newrdédeurt for interstate custody disputes, and
rewrite New Jersey family law. See id. {{ 396(aa)-(mm).

Il. STANDARD OF REVIEW
A. Motions to Dismiss Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6)

Under Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Civil Rrdare, a pleading is sufficient so long as it
includes “a short and plain statemehthe claim showing that thegader is entitled to relief” and
provides the defendant with “fair notice of whiae . . . the claim is and the grounds upon which

it rests. _Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 8. 544, 555 (2007) (quotinConley v. Gibson, 355

U.S. 41, 47 (1957)) (internal quotations omittedj considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to

dismiss, the court accepts as true all of flagts in the complaint and draws all reasonable
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inferences in favor of the plaintiff. HBlips v. Cnty. of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 231 (3d Cir.

2008). Moreover, dismissal is inappropriate even where “it appears unlikely that the plaintiff can
prove those facts or will ultimely prevail on the merits.”_Id.

While this standard places a considerablelén on the defendan¢éaking dismissal, the
facts alleged must be “more than labels and lcsins, and a formulaic recitation of the elements
of a cause of action will not do.” _Twombly, 5%0S. at 555. That is, the allegations in the
complaint “must be enough to raise a right to fell®ve the speculative level.”_1d. Accordingly,
a complaint will survive a motion to dismiss ifgtovides a sufficient factual basis such that it

states a facially plausible claim for relief. h&soft v. Igbal, 556 U.S662, 678 (2009). In order

to determine whether a complaint is sufficient uritiese standards, the Third Circuit requires a
three-part inquiry: (1) the court must first recite the elements that must be pled in order to state a
claim; (2) the court must then determine whidbagdtions in the complaint are merely conclusory

and therefore need not be given an assumptiomtdf, tand (3) the court nsiassume the veracity

of well-pleaded factual aligtions and ascertain whetlileey plausibly give risto a right to relief.

Santiago v. Warminster Twp., 6293d 121, 130 (3d Cir. 2010).

While the above framework still applies in casétere, as here, a plaintiff is proceeding
pro se, the court is required to construe the g complaint more liberally than it would a

complaint drafted by an attaym. Huertas v. Galaxy Asset kihd., 641 F.3d 28, 32 (3d Cir. 2011).

This less stringent standard does not mean, howthadrpro se plaintiffeieed not abide by the
basic rules of pleading; theytils must allege sufficient facts their complaints to support a

claim.” Mala v. Crown Bay Marindnc., 704 F.3d 239, 245 (3d Cir. 2013).
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B. Motions to Dismiss Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1)
Several Defendants alternatively move to dssnfor lack of subject matter jurisdiction
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1). A Rul2(b)(1) motion to dismiss may bechallenge either to the face
of the complaint or to the sufficiency of the underlying facts contained in the complaint. See

Mortensen v. First Federal Sav. & Loan Ag§s549 F.2d 884, 891 (3d Cit977). On a facial

attack, the allegations in the complaint are entitled to a presumption of truthfulness, just as they
are in the context of motion und®ule 12(b)(6). _Id. On #&ctual challenge, however, the

allegations in the complaint anet entitled to such a presungoti Polanco v. Omnicell, Inc., 988

F. Supp. 2d 451, 458 (D.N.J. 2013). The reviewdngrt may therefore consider “conflicting
written and oral evidence ..nd ... may decide for itself thiactual issues which determine

jurisdiction.” Martirez v. U.S. Post Office, 875 Bupp. 1067, 1070 (D.N.J. 1995). The party

seeking to invoke federal jurietion bears the burden of establishing its existence. Kehr

Packages, Inc. v. Fidelcor, In®26 F.2d 1406, 1409 (3d Cir. 1991).

1. DiscussioN
A. Preliminary Matters
1. Failure to Comply With Rule 8(a)
As an initial matter, the Court finds that tBemplaint fails to comply with Federal Rule

of Civil Procedure 8(a), which requires “a shartiglain statement of the claim showing that the

pleader is entitled to relief.Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(1) (emphasidded). The Complaint consists
of 120 pages and 396 separate paragraphs. Mahgsd paragraphs contain statements that are
wholly irrelevant to Plaintiff's claims or consisntirely of legal conclusions without any factual
support. This begins on the fifgige of the Complaint, whereifaintiff allegesn Paragraph 3

that all Defendants are engagedipattern of racketeering adtiv“through a calculated system
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of eugenics and social enginegr.” Compl. 3. Such baltkgal conclusions are present
throughout the Complaint and are generally ofsheme tenor. See, e.@. 11 9-10, 18, 20, 78,
79, 117, 119, 138, 160, 182, 186, 294, 299-36Gkaintiff even devotes six full pages of the
Complaint to quoting irrelevant case law. See id. § 184.

Finally, while Plaintiff names as defendanssentially anyone witany connection to the
custody proceedings, she largely fails to makespegific allegations agast many of them. The
Complaint fails not only violates Ra8(a)’s “short and plain s&hent” requirement, but it also
simply fails to demonstrate antélement to relief against any of the defendants. Therefore, the
Court would be justified in dismissing the Comptdr failure to comply with Rule 8(a). Cf.

Venezia v. Union Cnty. Prosecutor’s @#i, No. 10-6692, 2011 WL 2148818, (D.N.J. May 31,

2011) (complaint spanning 55 pages and contaii@pages of exhibits did not comply with
Rule 8(a)).

This dismissal also applies to those Defants who have not moved to dismiss the
Complaint, a group that consists of the follogi (1) Governor Chri€hristie; (2) the BFC,
Constance Ritzler, and John Cuttito; (3) Alexartr@mler, Esq.; (4) Roger Radol, Esq.; (5) Full
Circle and Kristin Cirelli; (6) the AGBE; and (7) Bank of America Merrill Lynch As with all
of the moving Defendants, Plaintiff's ajjations against the non-moving Defendants are

insufficiently pled to demonstrate an entittementelief. Therefore, the Court will sua sponte

6 Of these Defendants, only Mr. Radol has apggarDkt. No. 16. He answered the Complaint

on December 1, 2014. Dkt. No. 28. Of all stBeefendants in this group, only a summons for
Ms. Stremler was placed on the docket as execud&t.No. 38. The clerk entered default as to

Ms. Stremler on March 10, 2015. There is no proof of service as to the remainder of the non-
moving Defendants. Should Ri&iff choose to file an amnmeled complaint against those
Defendants, Plaintiff shall serve the amehdmmplaint on those Defendants and place the
executed summonses on the dockiétPlaintiff fails to properly serve those Defendants within

120 days of filing of the amended complaint, tleai€ will dismiss the case as to those Defendants
pursuant to Federal Rule Givil Procedure 4(m).
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exercise its discretion to disssi certain counts in the Complamthout prejudice as to the non-
moving Defendants with the exception of the AGBQvhich will be dismissed with prejudice
because it is entitled to saeggn immunity under the Eleventh Amendment to the Constitdtion.

See Tillio v. Northland Grp. Inc456 F. App’x 78, 79 (3d Cir. 20123ua sponte dismissal of pro

se complaint not an abuse of discretiong atso M.G. v. Crisfield, 547 F. Supp. 2d 399, 405

(D.N.J. 2008) (“A court can dismiss a claim sponte if its insufficiently plead under Rule
8(a)(2)).

Because the Complaint is deficient fatd&ional reasons, however, the Court will not
dismiss the Complaint solely because of theufailto comply with Rule 8(a). See Howe v.
Litwack, No. 12-4480, 2013 WL 3305994, at *6 (D.NJune 30, 2013) (finding that the
complaint failed to comply with Rule 8(a) but/rewing the sufficiency of the complaint on other
grounds).

2. As a Non-Lawyer Pro Se Plaintiff, Ms Wolf May Not Represent Her Children

Plaintiff seeks in this suit to represent I&hildren, D.C. and G.CAs has been noted,
Plaintiff is proceeding in this action pro se, dPldintiff has not asserted that she is herself a
licensed attorney. In such circumstances, it is wedtlesd law that Plaintiff is “not entitled to play

the role of attorney for [her] children in federal court.” Osei-Afriyie by Osei-Afriyie v. Med. Coll.

of Pa., 937 F.2d 876, 882 (3d Cir. 1991). Therefibre relief sought in #h Complaint is barred
insofar as it is sought on half of D.C. and G.C.

B. Plaintiff's Claims are Barred Under the Rooker-Feldman Doctrine

Numerous Defendants argue ieithmotions to dismiss that this Court lacks subject-matter

jurisdiction to heathis case under thed@ker-Feldman Doctrine. Todlextent that the Complaint

" Sovereign immunity is disssed below at Part I11.E.
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seeks to overturn orders and judgments issyethe Bergen County Family Court, this Court
agrees.

“The Rooker-Feldman Doctrine bars lower fesdeourts from exercising jurisdiction over

a case that is the functional equivalent ofagpeal from a state court judgment.” Marran v.
Marran, 376 F.3d 143, 149 (3drC2004). Stated differently, tli#octrine exists “to prevent lower

federal courts from reviewing seatourt decisions in an appellatgacity.” ITT Corp. v. Intelnet

Int'l Corp., 366 F.3d 205, 212 n.14 (3d Cir. 2004). dmler for the Doctrine to apply, four

requirements must be met: “(1) theléeal plaintiff lost in state coyyr(2) the plaintiff ‘complain[s]

of injuries caused by [the] s&tourt judgments’; (3) those jushgnts were rendered before the
federal suit was filed; and (4) the plaintiff is iing the state court to resv and reject the state

judgments.”_Great W. Mining & Mineral Cg. Fox Rothschild LLP, 615 F.3d 159, 166 (3d Cir.

2010) (quoting Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basndus. Corp., 544 U.S. 280, 284 (2005)).

Applying those four requirements here, the @aconvinced that itacks subject matter
jurisdiction over this case to the extent that Plaintiff seeks review of decisions rendered in the
Bergen County Family Court. As the Court maded from the outset, the Complaint is almost
singularly focused on the custody proceedings énBargen County Family Court. With respect
to the first requirement, there is no dispute thairiiff did not prevail inthose proceedings, since
custody of D.C. and G.C. was ultimately awardetoCrane. Second, many of the allegations
in the Complaint deal specificallyith injuries allegedly causeny that state court judgment.
Plaintiff states at multiple points that the custody proceedings resulted in the loss of employment,

development of post-traumatic stress disorded, the loss of child support. See, e.g., Compl.

137. Moreover, the alleged harms in the sepamatets of the Complaint focus solely on those
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flowing from the outcome of the custody procegd. See, e.g., id. 11 282-305. There is no

guestion that Plaintiff complains in this lawsaitinjuries caused by the custody proceedings.

The Court also finds that the Bergen CountsnfiaCourt judgments predate this suit. The
initial order granting custody tdr. Crane was filed on August 32013. The latest Bergen County
Family Court ruling to which the Complaint regas a July 9, 2014, tegmorary restraining order
in which Plaintiff was barred from contact witler Children._Id. § 88. A final restraining order
was entered after notice andeahng on July 22, 2014. Dkt. N&-5, Ex. B to Mot. to Dismiss
of Peter Van Aulen, at 31-32.The instant case was filed on September 24, 2014. The Family
Court judgments were therefore rendegpedr to the filing of this suit.

Finally, the relief that Plaintiff seeks makesanl that she is inviting review of the Bergen
County Family Court judgmentdndeed, Plaintiff unequivocally geiests that thi€ourt declare
all of the Family Court proceedings void. Aside from that clear statement of her desire to overturn
the rulings in Family Court, thamajority of the relief sought by &htiff stems from various state
court rulings that Plaintiff seeks tectify in this lawsuit. The @urt is therefore satisfied that the

facts of this case jtify application of theRooker-Feldman Doctrine.

This is not the first case in which a plaintiff has attempted to file suit in federal court
following an unfavorable custody determination iatstcourt. Indeed, several such cases have
been filed in this Circuit in recent years, and @hird Circuit has consistently affirmed district

court dismissals for lack of subject-mattetigdiction under the Rooker-Feldman Doctrine. See

Young v. Dubow, 411 F. App’x 456 (3d Cir. 2011ugsmarily affirming dismissal of complaint

filed by mother against all entiseand persons connected toetaburt custody proceedings after

8 Although Plaintiff did not mention the July 22014, order in her Complaint, the Court may
properly consider the order as it is a mattepublic record._See lm v. Bank of Am., 361 F.3d
217,221 n.3 (3d Cir. 2004).
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custody was awarded to fathedpphnson v. City of New Yé&r 347 F. App’x 850 (3d Cir. 2009)

(affirming district court determation that Rooker-Feldman barreldims to the extent plaintiff

sought review of family court decisions); Kigight v. Baker, 244 F. App’x 442 (3d Cir. 2007)

(affirming grant of summary judgmewhere it was clear that crwf plaintiff's complaint was
that defendants conspired to depriim of his vigation rights).
Courts in this district have also considtgrdetermined that they lack subject matter

jurisdiction over claims that seek to overturatstfamily court decisions. See Dobron v. N.J. Div.

of Youth & Family Servs., No. 13-2353, 2014 WL 1094854 (D.N.J. Mar. 18, 2014) (Rooker-

Feldman barred plaintiff's claims because they at€ttly or indirectly challenged|[d] the validity

of the family court’'s determination”); Reed v. N.J. Div. of Youth & Family Servs., No. 09-3765,

2012 WL 1224418 (D.N.J. Apr. 10, 2012) (dismissingimiffs’ suit alleghg violations of due
process rights following state cowermination of parental rights @&use to find such violations
“would amount to a determination that the Faniigrt’'s judgment was erroneously entered, or

would render the judgment ineffectualMelleady v. Blake, No. 11-1807, 2011 WL 6303245, at

*10-13 (D.N.J. Dec. 15, 2011) (dismissing plaintiffenstitutional claims because adjudication
of those claims would require revief/family court decisions).
The same result must obtain in this case. nkféis objective in this litigation is clearly to

nullify the outcome of the custody procésgs in Bergen County Family Codrt.This is not

° Indeed, Plaintiff's intent is further revea by her latest filing, which seeks a temporary
restraining order that would do the following: (Eturn Plaintiff's children to her custody; (2)
enjoin Defendants from further action or comnuaion with Plaintiff ad her children; and (3)
declare all orders of the Bergen County Far@iburt void. Dkt. No. 75, Appl. for Order to Show
Cause at 1.
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permitted. Therefore, this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over this case to the extent
Plaintiff seeks review of decisionsndered in Bergen County Family Cotitt.

C. The Individually Named Judges Are Either Immune From Suit or Must Be Dismissed
for Failure to State a Claim

“It is a well-settled princig@ of law that judges are generally ‘immune from a suit for
money damages’™ for actions taken in the perfance of their officialduties. _Figueroa v.

Blackburn, 208 F.3d 435, 440 (3d Cir. 2000) (quofitigeles v. Waco, 502 U.S. 9, 9 (1991)).

Indeed, judicial immunity even &nds to judicial acts that ataken “in excess of [the judge’s]

jurisdiction, and are altged to have been done maliciouslyocorruptly.” Stump v. Sparkman,

435 U.S. 349, 355-56 (1978). Themee accordingly only two siations in which judicial
immunity will not attach: (1) wherthe judge’s acts were non-judidiainature—that is, they were
“not taken in the judge’s judiciaapacity”; or (2) where the judgeasts were judicial in nature,
but were “taken in the complete absencalbjurisdiction.” Mireles, 502 U.S. at 11-12.

In this case, Plaintiff seeks various formismoney damages, including compensatory
damages of $100 million, punitive damages in the same amount, and treble damages pursuant to
RICO. She indiscriminately seeks these damageasist all Defendants, a group that includes the
following twelve judges: Chief Justice Rabnéudge Escala, Judge Mizdol, Judge Doyne, Judge
DeLorenzo, Judge Ashrafi, Judge William Eudent, Judge Harry G. Carroll, Judge Ellen L.
Koblitz, Judge John C. Kennedy, Judge Jerom&MJohn, and Judge Joseph L. Yannotti. The
Court notes at the outset that the Complaint fails to plead any substantive allegations against a

number of these judges. In any event, the sobgéaallegations that Rintiff does plead against

101n addition, to the extent Plaintiff seeks a child custody determination, the “domestic relations
exception” to federal diversity jurisdiction bars Plaintiff's suit. See Matusow v. Trans-County
Title Agency, LLC, 545 F.3d 241, 245 (3d Cir. 2008).
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the judges do not identify either non-judicial act or an actkn in the complete absence of
jurisdiction.

With respect to Judge Escala, Plaintiff complains largely about actions taken by the Judge
during the course of the custodiatr Without doubt, these actiofel squarely within the realm
of judicial acts for which Judge Eala is absolutely imune from liability. The allegations against
Judges DelLorenzo and Mizdol also focus on acttaken in the performance of their duties as
judges. Similarly, Judge Ashrdaialleged action in denying Plaiifi8 request for free transcripts
is a judicial act. As for Chief Justice Raba&d Judge Doyne, Plaintiff complains only of their
alleged failure to discipline Judge Escala anthefdecision to recall Judge Escala to the bench.
Certainly, their action or inaction inighcontext is an act or failure to act in their capacity as judges.
Therefore, Chief Justice Rabner, Judge Doyuelge Escala, Judge Mual, Judge DelLorenzo,
and Judge Ashrafi are entitled taljcial immunity and must be sinissed from this case on that
basis.

The remaining six judges are AppellatevBion judges. _See Compl. 1Y 42-46, 48.
Plaintiff mentions these judges @ single substantivearagraph in the Cortgnt. Id. T 271.
There, she claims that the judges are merelybb&r stamp” for the trial courts and offers the
legal conclusion that the judge®thfore “engage in [a] pattern i@cketeering activity and RICO
ENTERPRISE.” _Id. These judgese also entitled tammunity for any pdicial acts done in
connection with Plaintiff's custody proceeding8ut Plaintiff does not identify any acts—either
judicial or non-judicial—done by #se judges. Accordingly, thesglges are not only entitled to
absolute immunity, but they aresalappropriately dismissed from this case for a more fundamental
reason: Plaintiff simply fails to plead “sufficiefactual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim

to relief that is plausible on its face.” Igb&k6 U.S. at 678. Indeed, even under the broadest
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possible reading of the Complaiftlaintiff's single substantive pagraph with respect to these
judges reveals no actionable coaduAll individually namedydges are accordingly dismissed
from this case with prejudice. As will be mdudly developed below, however, each of Plaintiff's
causes of action fails as a general matter, amdCthurt separately relies on that reasoning as a
basis for dismissal.

D. Kathy Katona and Diana Moskal Are Entitled to Quasi-Judicial Immunity and the
Allegations Against Them Fail to State a Claim

Kathy Katona served as a court-appointeediator during the custody proceedings, and
Diana Moskal served as the Family Division Mgeafor the Bergen County Family Court during
the relevant time period. With respect to Mstdfe, Plaintiff essentiallalleges that she was
rude to her during the mediation sessions. Gampl. 1 222-23. As to Ms. Moskal, Plaintiff
vaguely claims that she “failed to handle and aahe the custody litigation expeditiously.” Id.
127. The allegationtherefore concern actioriaken by Ms. Katonaral Ms. Moskal in their
respective capacities as a mediatod a court administrator. Ascdy they are entitled to quasi-

judicial immunity, which shields them “from hality for damages in a suit challenging” their

conduct in carrying out court onde Addlespurger v. Corbet#t61 F. App’x 82, 85 (3d Cir. 2012)

(citing Gallas v. Supreme Court of Pennsyiiga 211 F.3d 760, 772-73 (3d Cir. 2000)). These

defendants may therefore be dismissed on thsis ladone. More fundamentally, the Complaint
simply fails to plead sufficient fagtgiving rise to liability as teither defendant. _See Igbal, 556
U.S. at 678. Ms. Katona and Ms. Moskal aredfae dismissed from thisase with prejudice.

E. The Eleventh Amendment Bars Plaintiff'sClaims Against State Agencies and State
Officials Sued in Their Official Capacity

Plaintiff names the following state agenciesdatendants in this case: (1) the ACJC; (2)

the AGBOE; (3) DYFS; (4) the Bergen County FgnCourt; (5) the Appellate Division; and (6)
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the Office of Court Administration. The ElewbnrAmendment to the Constitution grants to the
states immunity from suit. In addition, it is well-settled &t such immunity extends to

“governmental entities that are considered arnth@fState.”_Will v. Mich. Dep’t of State Police,

491 U.S. 58, 70 (1989); see also Regents obthie. of Cal. v. Doe519 U.S. 425, 429 (1997).

As state-created agencies that are funded bgt#te of New Jersey, tleecannot be any serious
dispute that the above-named Defendants are afntise State for purposes of the Eleventh
Amendment. Therefore, those Defendantsd@smissed from this case with prejudice.
F. The Allegations Concerning the ACJCand the OCC Do Not State a Claim

Plaintiff's specific allegations against the AC and the OCC fail to state any claim for
relief. With respect to the ACJC, Plaintiff devote® paragraphs of the Complaint to substantive
allegations, and these paragraphs reveal norettie conduct._See Compl. {{ 266-67. In those
paragraphs, Plaintiff claims thahe filed a complaint againsidhe Escala, presumably with the
ACJC, and that the ACJC *“failed to conducprper investigation, if any, and dismissed the
complaint.” Plaintiff then offes the legal conclusn that ACJC is inveled in a cover-up of
Defendants’ fraud. Pldiifif provides no further detail of th@CJC’s alleged misconduct. As with
the judges, the allegations in the Complaint arefulty deficient and fail to provide “sufficient
factual matter, accepted as truestate a claim to relief that dausible on its face.” Igbal, 556
U.S. at678. Thus, even if the ACJC were ntitled to immunity under th Eleventh Amendment,
Plaintiff simply fails tostate a claim against it.

The same reasoning applies to the OCC. Risndnly specific claim with respect to the
OCC is that it (along with otherf)locked Plaintiff ... from obtaimg free transcripts of her case,
which prohibited her from filing an appeal.Compl. § 268. The OCG@pparently argued in

opposition to Plaintiff's request for free trangts that she had not claimed the loss of a
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constitutional right thatvould entitle her to free transcripts ancivil case. _Id. § 269. Plaintiff
concludes from the OCC’s opposition that the O& the rest of the Defendants must have
“colluded and conspired here toepent [Plaintiff] from filing an ppeal.” Id. Tk OCC is then
accused of being a “rubber stamp” for the lower tould. § 271. These are all of the allegations
against the OCC contained in the Complaint—tyemsufficient to plagibly state a claim for
relief. The Complaint must therefore be dismilseits entirety as to the ACJC and the OCC.
G. Plaintiff's Constitutional Claims

1. Counts One, Three, and Five: Claims Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983

Plaintiff alleges violations of the followingpastitutional rights in Counts One, Three, and
Five, respectively: (1) her Faeenth Amendment rights to substantive and procedural due
process; (2) her First Amendment right to finee exercise of religion; and (3) her Fourth
Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searand seizures. Plaintiff appears to allege
these violations againatl Defendants generally.

Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, private citizen® arovided with a mechanism to remedy
violations of their federal civil rights. lorder to state a claim und& 1983, a plaintiff must
establish two fundamental elements: (1) thenpiiwas deprived of “a right secured by the

Constitution and the laws of the United Statesid (2) “the alleged deprivation was committed

11 Plaintiff also cites to 42 $.C. § 1985, which authorizes itiactions for conspiracies to
interfere with civil rights. Plaitiff does not cite a specific subsect of the statute, but it would
appear that she attempts to allege a coaspiunder § 1985(3). That subsection concerns
conspiracies to deprive personsegfual protection of the lawsn order to state a claim under 8
1985(3), Plaintiff must plead four elements, onevbich requires the plaintiff to allege “some
racial, or perhaps otherwise class-baseadyidiously discriminatory animus behind the
conspirators’ action.”_Bray v. Alexandri@omen’s Health Clinic, 506 U.S. 263, 268-69 (1993);
see also D’Aurizio v. Palisades Park, 963Epp. 378, 385-86 (D.N.J. 199(&etting forth the
four elements of a § 1985(3) claim). Plaintiff fadsallege any race- or class-based discrimination
in this case. Accordingly, to ¢hextent Plaintiff attempts &tate a claim under § 1985, that claim
is dismissed.
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by a person acting under color of state law.” Kneipp v. Tedder, 95 F.3d 1199, 1204 (3d Cir. 1996).

The second of these elements generally requireshdatlleged violators of the plaintiff's rights
be “state actors” as that term has been iné¢ed under the Fourteenth Amendment. Kach v.

Hose, 589 F.3d 626, 646 (3d Cir. 2009). Thereforgate parties are gendlsanot amenable to

suit under 8 1983 unless theonduct is “fairly attributable to the state.” Lugar v. Edmondson Oil

Co., 457 U.S. 922, 937 (1982).
a. Plaintiff's Claims Against Non-State ActorsMust be Dismissed

To determine whether a private actor’s conduct is fairly attributable to the state, the
reviewing court asks the followingl) whether the conduct involves the exercise of “powers that
are traditionally the exclusive pogrative of the state”; (2) wheththe private party has enlisted
the help of the state or acted “in concert witltesiofficials”; and (3) whether “the [s]tate has so
far insinuated itself into a position of interéeglence with the acting party that it must be
recognized as a joint participgam the challenged activity.”_Kach, 589 F.3d at 646 (internal
guotations and citations omitted). If any otsk three tests is satisfied, the private conduct
constitutes state action. Seke iSeveral of the moving Defernda are not state actors under any
of these three tests. Accordingly, Plaintiff's constitutional claims must be dismissed as to them.

As to the Good Shepherd Defendants, @amplaint is completely devoid of any
allegations even suggesting that they engagezbimduct that could be etved as state action.
Indeed, as previously noted, the Good Shepbeféndants are specifically mentioned in a mere
six paragraphs out of the 396 paragraphs ilCtiraplaint._See Compl. 11 66-68, 181-83. Nothing
in those paragraphs allegany relationship between theo@ Shepherd Defendants and any
governmental actor. Rather, Plaintiff simplymaains of the administration of Holy Communion

to the Children—an action that is not allegechtve been done under state compulsion or in
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concert with state actors. The Court is theregatisfied that Plaintiff fails to plead state action
on the part of the Good Shepherd Defendants.

Plaintiff likewise fails to plead state action o fhart of the Coutinhos and Mr. Crane. As
previously mentioned, the Conhios are scarcely mentioned in the Complaint, and even where
they are, there is not a single allegation toata plausibly imply state action. Moreover, although
Mr. Crane is obviously mentioned throughout theptint, the allegations against Mr. Crane
simply concern his role as adweerse litigant in the custody proceedings in state court. The Court
is therefore thoroughly satisfiedathPlaintiff has failedo allege state action on the part of the
Coutinhos and Mr. Crane.

Nor does Plaintiff allege stagetion by Defendant Lisa EstrilAs summarized above, Ms.
Estrin was hired by Mr. Crane poovide therapy to the Childrem or about February 2013. The
Complaint provides no indication thislis. Estrin was employed by te&ate, acting with the state’s
assistance, or had any relationship at all with the state. Rather, the allegations in the Complaint
simply suggest a private arramgent between Mr. Crane and Msstrin for the provision of
therapy to the Children. This is not state actidrherefore, Plaintiff's § 1983 claims must be
dismissed as to Ms. Estrin.

Dr. Greif must be dismissed for the same oeas Plaintiff alleges in the Complaint that
Dr. Greif was hired by Mr. Gne and Mr. Van Aulen for theurpose of providing a custody
evaluation during the custody pemxings. As an initial matteDr. Greif's alleged conduct
unquestionably does not constitute the exercisgpafers traditionally held by the state.
Moreover, Plaintiff does natlaim that Dr. Greif was acting on ledf of or in concert with the

state. Plaintiff’'s avermentahDr. Greif was hired by Mr. Crarand Mr. Van Aulen—two private
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actors—is fatal to her § 1983 claims. The Complglainly does not justifyan inference of state
action by Dr. Greif.

Finally, Mr. Van Aulen, Mr. Rdol, and Ms. Stremler are not state actors under the facts
pled in the Complaint. Plaintiff's allegations aggtithem concern actionsatithey allegedly took
as counsel during the course of the custody pracged It is well-settled law that “[a]ttorneys
performing their traditional functions will not be caatesred state actors solely on the basis of their

position as officers of the court.” Angelieo Lehigh Valley Hosp., Inc., 184 F.3d 268, 277 (3d

Cir. 1999). Plaintiff alleges namaduct on the part of Mr. Van Aen, Mr. Radol, or Ms. Stremler
that could be considered outside #tope of their duties as officerstioé court. Indeed, as to Mr.
Van Aulen, Plaintiff merely focusem papers that he filed on behalf of his client, Mr. Crane, and
the various arguments that Mr. Van Aulen mdmfore the Bergen County Family Court.
Similarly, Plaintiff's allegations regarding MRadol and Ms. Stremler concern actions taken
during their representation Blaintiff. The Court is thereforetssfied that Plaintiff fails to plead
state action by Mr. Van Aulen, Mr. Radol, and MBremler, and Plaintiff's claims must be
dismissed as to them.

Plaintiff's constitutional claims are accordigglismissed with prejudice as to the Good
Shepherd Defendants, the Coutinhos, Mr. Crafre,Van Aulen, Mr. Radol, Ms. Stremler, Dr.
Greif, and Ms. Estrin.

b. General Deficiencies
I.  Count Five: Fourth Amendment Claim

Plaintiff claims in Count Five that she wasbjected to an unlawful search and seizure

under the Fourth Amendment. In papt of that claim, she vaguelyfees to an invasion of privacy

by all of the Defendants generalind alleges that she was “sedipd to abuse by Defendants for
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over three years due to false state court prongsdiiolating [her] congutional and due process
rights.” Compl. § 342. Nowhere does Plaintiff iignthe person or placallegedly searched or
the thing or person allegedlyized. Reading the specific ailations in Count Five with the
broader allegations in the Complaint provides ravifitation. In short, the Complaint fails to
identify adequately conductdahwould be actionable under 8§ 1988 a violatiornof the Fourth
Amendment. Thus, Count Five is dissed in its entirety on that ground.
ii.  Count Three: First Amendment Free Exercise Claim

As with Count Five, the allegations in Codiftree come up well shaot alleging violation
of a constitutional rightFirst, the only allegations in the @plaint concerning religion appear to
be in connection with the Children’s receiving Holy Communion, apparegtynst Plaintiff's
wishes. _See Compl. {{ 181-83. Plaintiff makes gsame basic allegatioms the paragraphs
corresponding to Count Three._Id. 11 320-24. Efaessentially claims that she has a right to
manage her Children’s religiougpbringing and that Defendanisterfered with that right.
Plaintiff provides no indication oéither how Defendants interéat with her rights or which
Defendants were involved. Rather, Plaintiff simply offers legatlusions without providing any
supporting facts. In any evef@ount Three appears to be anothtempt by Plaintiff to undermine
the decision of the Family Court to grant custtmr. Crane. Indeed, it is well-established law
in New Jersey that the custodrent has the right determine the religious upbringing of the

children. _See, e.q., Feldman v. Feldman, 37B Super. 83, 91 (App. Div. 2005). Moreover, to

the extent Plaintiff seeks to vindicate her Clahlis First Amendment rights, she is barred from
doing so as a prse litigant.
Therefore, Count Three must dsmissed for failure to st claim on which relief can

be granted.
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iii.  Count One: Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Claim
This claim fails for similar reasons. EsselyigPlaintiff alleges tlat Defendants violated
her procedural and substantidee process rights by interferimgth her rightto parent her
Children. The Court addresses Plaintiff's procatiand substantive due process claims in turn.
In assessing whether a plaintiff states ancléor a procedural due process violation, the
Court asks: “(1) whether the as®al individual interests are encompassed within the fourteenth
amendment’s protection of life, liberty or pesty; and (2) whether the procedures available

provided the plaintiff due pross of law.” _Alvin v. Suzuki227 F.3d 107, 116 (3d Cir. 2000). A

Plaintiff must have actually k&n advantage of available stgiecesses in order to state an
adequate procedural dpeocess claim,_Id.
As to the first question, there is no doubt thairRiff has a liberty inteest as a parent “in

the custody, care and management of [her] admid Croft v. Westmoreland Cnty. Children &

Youth Servs., 103 F.3d 1123, 1125 (3d Cir. 1997)th\Wespect to the second question, however,

the allegations in the Complaint fail to establishw the state court procedures ultimately leading

to the deprivation of that liberty interest were deficient. Rather, Plaintiff's allegations are best
characterized as grievances against those whom she believes committed some wrong against her
during the course of the custody proceedingse fblachstone of due process “is the opportunity

to be heard at a meaningful time and in eanmingful manner.”_Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S.

319, 333 (1976) (internal quotations and citation#tent). Plaintiff does not allege that she was
denied such an opportunity; on the contrary, har allegations indicate that she was given every
opportunity to be heard. InddeMr. Crane was awarded legaldd primary physical custody only
after a hearing that spanned sel/deys. Moreover, Plaintiff wagiven notice of the July 9, 2014,

order temporarily suspending her communicatind wisitation with the Children, and a hearing

28



was promptly held on July 22, 2014. See Dkt. N6.8-31-35. The process afforded to Plaintiff

was therefore more than adequate. Sé&e B. Somerset Cnty., 704 F.3d 250, 271-73 (3d Cir.

2013) (pre-hearing deprivation of child custody péed, but parent is entitled to a prompt post-
deprivation review). Plaintiff therefore fails poovide any factual basis for the inference that she
was denied procedural due process duttregcourse of the stody proceedings.

Plaintiff's substantive due process claim alstsfaln order to state a claim for substantive
due process violation, the pl&ffh must allege the following eiments: (1) the defendants were
acting under color of state law;)(2a protected propertgr liberty interest was at stake”; (3) the
defendants owed the plaintiff a gluvf care; and (4) plaintiff weadeprived of her property or

liberty interest within the meaning of the duecess clause. Roberts v. Mentzer, 382 F. App’x

158, 166 (3d Cir. 2010). In addition, the allegedlation of the plainff's rights “must be ‘so
egregious, so outrageous, that it may fairly bd sashock the contempany conscience.””_Id.

(quoting Kaucher v. Cnty. of Busk455 F.3d 418, 425 (3d Cir. 2006)n order to satisfy that

standard, the plaintiff must show at the vésgst that thestate actors’ @nduct was grossly

negligent or arbitrary. Midr v. City of Philadelphial 74 F.3d 368, 375-76 (3d Cir. 1999).

Plaintiff fails to meet this demanding standafdrst, Plaintiff's claim fails as to the non-
state actors discussed abovehud, Plaintiff's substantive dueqmess claim is dismissed as to
those defendants. As for the ramiag state actors, Plaintiff safiiss the second element because,
as noted above, she unquestionably has a libadgest in the custody and care of the Children.
Croft, 103 F.3d at 1125. That lilsgiinterest is not, however, stilute, and it mape “limited by
the compelling governmental interest in the proteatiochildren.” Id. With respect to the third
element, Plaintiff fails to establish which of tetate actors, if any, owed her a duty of care.

Therefore, Plaintiff's clan fails on that basis.
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Even assuming that all four elements aré, in@wever, the circumstances surrounding the
deprivation of Plaintiff's liberty interest surere not “so egregious, smtrageous, that [they]

may fairly be said to shock the contemporary conscience.” Kauchef,3&%at 425. Indeed, the

manner in which Plaintiff's custody and care of @hildren has been limited resulted from an
extensive custody battle befdiee Bergen County Family Coudand the Complaint provides no
indication that any state actors at&bitrarily or were grossly negent during the course of those
proceedings. Put simply, the circumstances presented in this case fall well short of the “shocks-
the-conscience” standard. Cf. Miller, 174 F.3@&4-77 (conduct of social worker in seeking ex
parte restraining order for remdwd children from mother’s custly did not shock the conscience,
even though, among other things, he asked therehiléading questionsgarding alleged abuse
and requested that the mothemoduce all three ddren for examinabn although he only
suspected abuse of one). Plaintiff's sahtive due process claim accordingly fails.
H. Count Four: Monell Claim
Under § 1983, a municipality may be held Ialthen it causes a constitutional violation

through the implementation of a policy, custom, acgice. _Monell v. Dep'’t of Soc. Servs. of

N.Y., 436 U.S. 658, 691 (1978). Wihdhere is no underlying coitstional violation, however,

a Monell claim cannot stand. Knellinger v. Y&k Property Development, LP, --- F. Supp. 3d -

--, No. 14-4712, 2014 WL 5758007, at *6 (E.D. PavN6, 2014) (citing City of Los Angeles v.

Heller, 475 U.S. 796, 799 (1986)). As discussabove, Plaintiff ha failed to allege a

constitutional violation. Therefer Count Four must be dismisséd.

12 Even if Plaintiff had alleged a constitutionablation, the Monell claim is inadequately pled.
First, the Eleventh Amendment bars such a claitihéoextent that Plaintiff attempts to plead it
against state agencies. Will v. Mich. Dep't&tfate Police, 491 U.S. 58, 70 (1989). Rather, a
Monell claim is only cognizable against a municigaliSee Simmons v. City of Philadelphia, 947
F.2d 1042, 1059 (3d Cir. 1991). Plaintiff fails the first instance to identify a specific
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I.  Count Two: Plaintiffs RICO Claim

In Count Two, Plaintiff alleges violation ¢iie federal RICO statute, 18 U.S.C. 88 1961-
68. Plaintiff appears to be specifically alleginglation of 18 U.S.C. 8962(c), which provides,
in pertinent part, that:

It shall be unlawful for any perscamployed by or associated with any

enterprise any enterprise engaged itheractivities which affect, interstate

or foreign commerce, to conduct or pagate, directly or indirectly, in the

conduct of such enterprise’s affaitbrough a pattern of racketeering

activity or collection of unlawful debt.

A valid claim under § 1962(c) must allege thdldeing four elements: “(1) conduct (2) of an

enterprise (3) through a patterr) 6f racketeering activity.” Lura. Bank of Am., 361 F.3d 217,
223 (3d Cir. 2004). In addition to these four eletaga plaintiff must also demonstrate that the 8§
1962 violation damaged his or her business op@rty. 18 U.S.C. § 1962, Commonly referred
to as the RICO standing requirement, 8 1964(c) requi plaintiff to “show that defendant’s RICO
violation was not only a ‘but fortause of his injuryhut also that it was the proximate cause.”

Anderson v. Ayling, 396 F.3d 265, 269 (3d Cir. 2005).

Here, Plaintiff fails in the first instance totallish that she hasastding to bring a RICO
claim because she has not alleged an injury tdheginess or property. dtead, Plaintiff claims
that the state court proceedinggve caused the following damagél) loss of custody of her
children; (2) lost wages; (3) mdieal, legal, and other expensesd (4) various emotional and
mental damages that caused PI#iti develop post-traumatic sggdisorder. Compl. § 395. All
of these claimed injuries arergenal in nature and are theyef not cognizable under RICO. Cf.

Genty v. Resolution Trust Corp., 937 F.2d 899, A& Cir. 1991) (medical expenses flowing

municipality against which she is asserting ¢laim. The only named entity that could arguably
serve as the requisite municipality is the OGXS. stated above, howevehe allegations against
the OCC are deficient in every respect. THlajntiff's claim fails onthat fundamental ground.
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from alleged conduct of defendants not recoverabder RICO). The onjyotentially cognizable
RICO injury alleged is the loss of wages, buthiag in the Complaint even suggests that her lost
wages resulted from the allegednduct of Defendants as opposedntervening factors such as
the personal and emotional injuries Plaintiff clai See Ayling, 396 F.3d at 271 (stating that lost
wages are not speculative, but fimgl that “it would be difficultto determine to what extent
plaintiffs’ job loss was due to the alleged RICOsaamd to what extent it was due to intervening
factors”). Thus, Plaintiff fails to allege thiag¢r lost wages were proximately caused by the conduct
of Defendantd?

Plaintiff also fails to allege the “racketé®sg activity” element of a cognizable 8§ 1962(c)
claim. “Racketeering activity” is defined at BS.C. § 1961(1) to include a bevy of federal and
state crimes. Commonly referred to as the “predi@et®’ required to establish a RICO violation,
these underlying crimes and offenses rafrgen mail fraud, 18 U.S.C. § 1341, to human
trafficking, 18 U.S.C. 88 1581-1592. In this case,rRifkialleges violation of virtually all of the
RICO predicates listed in § 1961(1). See Coi@18. There, Plaintiff merely lists the offenses
and provides no factual allegations that would estlalbhe elements of any of them. Reading the
Complaint in its totality, only the RICO predicates of mail and wire fraud, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1341,
1343, are mentioned in the factualegations of the Complaint.Such pleadig is clearly
insufficient.

With respect to mail and wire fraud, Plaintiff alleges in conclusory fashion that Mr. Crane
and Mr. Van Aulen committed mail and wire fraud by introducing false evidence and testimony

during the custody proceedings and tampering exvidence mailed to Plaintiff. Id. 1 109, 115,

13 In any event, Plaintiff simply claims a losswéges without providingry factual detail that
would establish that injury. Acecdingly, her allegations are inagigate on those grounds, as well.
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117-118, 130. As an initial matter, a person cary eoinmit wire fraud where he or she uses
“wire, radio or television commucation” with the intent to defud. 18 U.S.C. § 1343. Plaintiff
alleges only use of the mail; thus, the Complaiiis feo allege wire fraud. In addition, RICO
predicates sounding in fraud, suak mail and wire fraud, must hed with particularity in

accordance with Federal Rule ofACProcedure 9(b). Silverstev. Percudani, 207 F. App’x 238,

239 (3d Cir. 2006). This requirentean satisfied in one of twaays: (1) by pleadg the “date,
place or time” of the alleged fud; or (2) through use of other means that serve to “inject[]

precision and some measure abstantiation into their allegats of fraud.” _Lum v. Bank of

Am., 361 F.3d 217, 224 (3d Cir. 2004) (internal quotagiand citations omitted). Moreover, Rule
9(b) also requires a plaintiff to “allege who deaa misrepresentation to whom and the general
content of the misrepresentationd. Plaintiff's allegations fail taneet this standard. Plaintiff
never identifies the content of the alleged misregmé&ations, when they were made, or where they
were made. Accordingly, the Complaint failsaltege the “racketeering activity” element of a 8
1962(c) claimt?

Because Plaintiff fails to establish eithemsti]ng to bring a RICO claim or the underlying
racketeering activity required to state a § 1962@)clthe Court is satigfd that Count Two must

be dismissed in its entirety.

14 Because Plaintiff fails to establish the requisiteketeering activity, she also necessarily fails
to establish a pattern of such aittiv Thus, that element fails, agell. Finally, Plaintiff fails to
establish the existence of an enterprise. beoto plead an assoti@n-in-fact enterprise, a
plaintiff must plead, at a mimum, the following three statural features: “a purpose,
relationships among those associated with thegnge, and longevity sufficient to permit these
associates to pursue the enterprise’s purpddeyle v. United States, 556 U.S. 938, 946 (2009);
see also In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust ¢.iti618 F.3d 300, 369-70 (3d C2010). Plaintiff fails

to establish relationships between Defendantsstead, Plaintiff metg introduces various
Defendants and identifies actiotmat they individually took, bughe does not prode any factual
detail as to how all of the Deafdants are related to one anoth&€he RICO claim therefore fails
to establish the “enterprise” element.
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J. Counts Six Through Twelve: State Law Claims
1. Count Six: Legal Malpractice
Plaintiff alleges legal malpractice against I8&.emler and Messrs. Van Aulen and Radol.
Under New Jersey law, a legal malpracticernsla@onsists of the following elements: “(1) the
existence of an attorney-client relationship tirepa duty of care by the defendant attorney, (2)
the breach of that duty by the defendant, and (3) proximate causation of the damages claimed by

the plaintiff.” McGrogan v. Till, 167 N.J. 414, 425 (2001).

Here, Plaintiff has no claim for legal malptiae against Mr. Van Aulen because he served
as Mr. Crane’s attorney, not Plaintiff's. Thukere was never any attorney-client relationship
between Plaintiff and Mr. Van Aulen. With resp to Ms. Stremler ahMr. Radol, Plaintiff
adequately pleads an attorney-client relationsRiintiff alleges that Mr. Radol represented her
from approximately February 2012 until the summer of 2012. Ms. Stremler allegedly represented
Plaintiff around the time of the stody trial until Ms. Stremler ithdrew from representation.
Thus, the first element is satisfied.

Plaintiff fails, however, to plead adequattigat Ms. Stremler and Mr. Radol breached their
duty of care. As to Mr. Radol, &htiff claims that she dismissed him as her attorney “because he
was not communicating wither, had misled her, [and] failéd follow through in negotiating a
settlement.” Compl. 1 142. Plaintiff providesfnather detail as to thactions Mr. Radol took or
failed to take. Plaintiff’'s allegations concerniilg. Radol are not sufficiently specific to “state a
claim for relief that is plauble on its face.”_Twombl 550 U.S. at 570. QGfourse, the Court is
not requiring Plaintiff to meticolusly set forth every detail garding Mr. Radol’s conduct, but
she must do more than merely claim that Mr. Radisled her._See id. While facts might exist

that imply a breach of duty, PHiff has not pled them. The same reasoning applies to Ms.
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Stremler. Plaintiff claims Ms. Stremler notifiedriikat she would be seeking to withdraw as trial
counsel and that Ms. Stremler failed to providal tbinders to Plaintiff. See_id. 1Y 163-67.
Plaintiff does not identify the circumstances tledtMs. Stremler to witdraw, although it appears
from the Complaint that Judge d&da and Judge Mizdol permitted M&remler to do so. See id.
11 164-65. As with many other Defendants, Piidbes not plead sufficient facts as to Ms.
Stremler “to state a claim to relief thaigusible on its face.”_Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678.

Moreover, even if Plaintiff had properly pledelach of duty, Plaintiff fids to plead that her
damages were proximately caused by Mr. Rad®dsrStremler. In ordeo establish proximate
causation, the plaintiff must shahat the “defendant’s negligent conduct was a ‘substantial factor’

in bringing about plaintiff's ijury.” Froom v. Perel, 377 N.Buper. 298, 313 (App. Div. 2005)

(quoting_Conklin v. Hannoch Weisman, 145 N.J. 328 (1996)). Here, the Complaint fails to

provide any connection between #ikeged conduct of Mr. Radohd Ms. Stremler and the alleged
injuries visited upon Plaintiff—i.e., loss of cudioof the children and &éother damages flowing
therefrom. Therefore, Plaintiff fails to stadeclaim for legal malpractice, and Count Six is
accordingly dismissed.

2. Counts Seven Through Nine: Therapist and Social Worker Malpractice

In Count Seven, Plaintiff alleges professional malpractice against Lisa Estrin, Full Circle,
and Kristin Cirelli. Plaintiff acknowledges this. Estrin was hiredby Mr. Crane to provide
therapy to D.C. and G.C. Plaintiff does ndiege any relationship with Ms. Estrin. In the
circumstances presented here, ¢fi@re, Plaintiff cannolhave a claim for professional malpractice
against Ms. Estrin,_See T.G. v. Kaplal. L-3605-08, 2011 WL 100464&t *13-14 (N.J. App.
Div. Mar. 23, 2011). Plaintiff similarly fails tollage a relationship with either Full Circle or

Kristin Cirelli. Indeed, the Complaint alleges tMg. Cirelli, an employee of Full Circle, provided
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treatment to D.C. and G.C. in Mr. Crane’s horgee Compl. 11 63, 240 herefore, Count Seven
must be dismissed in its entirety.

Count Eight alleges social worker malpracticaiagt Dr. Greif. Astated previously, Dr.
Greif was hired by Mr. Crane. &htiff has never had any relatiship with Dr. Greif. Thus,
Plaintiff cannot state a claimrfonalpractice against her.

Count Nine for social worker malpractice sawalso be dismissed on the same basis.
Plaintiff asserts that claim agwait the BFC, Constance Ritz{@arBFC employee), and John Cuttito
(also a BFC employee). Essentially, Plaintifeges that these defendants provided incomplete
custody reports to the Bergen County Famibuf@ by excluding evidence. See Compl. 11 209,
291. Plaintiff does not allege that she wasliant of these defend#s) instead, Plaintiff
acknowledges that they werppinted by the Family Court fgerform the custody evaluation.
Id. § 198. Therefore, Plaintiff does not allegeekationship with the BFC, Ms. Ritzler, or Mr.
Cuttito that would give rise to a professionallpnactice claim, and Courtiine is accordingly
dismissed.

Because Plaintiff fails to pleadrelationship betwedrerself and the various parties named
in Counts Seven, Eight, and Nine, those claimstnne dismissed. Mooeer, it appears that
Plaintiff seeks to bring theseaiins on behalf of her children. See Compl. 1 365, 373, 382. As
discussed above, Plaintiff may not repent her children as a pro septifi. Therefore, if Plaintiff
wishes to replead these claims, si&y only plead them on her own beHhalf.

3. Counts Ten and Eleven: Unjust Enrichment and Disgorge Fees

15 plaintiff also claims at various points @ounts Seven, Eight, and ni that the defendants
committed “vendor misfeasance and malfeasance€sdleconcepts are unknown in the law.
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In Count Ten, Plaintiff alleges unjust enrichmhagainst the defendants named in Counts
Seven through Nine. In order to state a clainufgust enrichment, the pfdiff must allege that
the defendant received a benefit at the pffimtexpense “under circumatces that would make

it unjust for defendant teetain the benefit without payingrfda.” Snyder v. Farnam Cos., 792 F.

Supp. 2d 712, 723-24 (D.N.J. May 26, 2011) (internadtations and citations omitted). Unjust
enrichment is not an independent tort cause obctather, it is generally used in the context of

guasi-contractual liabilityCastro v. NYT Television, 370 N.Super. 282, 299 (App. Div. 2004).

Plaintiff alleges that she and/or Mr. Crane pard Greif, the BFC, Ms. Ritzler, Mr. Cuttito, and
Ms. Estrin. Compl. 1 388. Plaifitdoes not specify which of thegpersons she actually paid and
how much she paid them. Even assuming Plaiditifin fact make payments to these defendants,
however, Plaintiff fails to allege “circumstanceatttvould make it unjust fdthem] to retain” the
payments._Snyder, 792 F. Supp. 2d at 723-24. Ra&tantiff simply makes bare allegations of
wrongful conduct and provides no factual support fordssertions. Such pleading is insufficient,
see Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570, and Cotlieh must therefore be dismissed.

Count Eleven must also be dismissed to thengxtet it purports to be a cause of action.
In Count Eleven, Plaintiff requests the disgorgement of feed@aid. Van Aulen, Dr. Greif, the
BFC, and Ms. Estrin. This is merely a remethd not a cause of action. Moreover, Plaintiff
would not be entitled to a disgorgement of fpa&l to Mr. Van Aulen, DrGreif, or Ms. Estrin,
since there is no allegat that she ever made any paymentth&m. Indeed, since all three of
them were hired by Mr. Crane, i likely that he paid therand not Plaintiff. Counts Ten and
Eleven are accordingly dismissed.

4. Count Twelve: Declaratory and Injunctive Relief
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In this Count, Plaintiff seeks a stay of the staburt proceedings in lig of the fact that
she asserts claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Winalé\nti-Injunction Act gaerally bars federal
courts from enjoining ongoing stateurt proceedings, the Act permits such an injunction in three
narrow circumstances: “where thgunction (1) is expressly #uwrized by Congress; (2) is
necessary in aid of the federal court’s jurisdiction(3) is necessary to @ect or effectuate the

federal court’s judgment.” 28 U.S.C. § 2283; USBeel Corp. Plan for Emp. Ins. Benefits v.

Musisko, 885 F.2d 1170, 1176 (3d Cir. 1989). $ecli983 expressly autheas the issuance of

federal injunctions._Mitchuma. Foster, 407 U.S. 225, 242-43 (1972). Thus, an injunction could

theoretically issue in th case, but because Pif fails to state a @im under § 1983, the Court
declines Plaintiff'snvitation to do sd® Count Twelve is therefore dismissed.
IV.  CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing, the motions to dismiss &@RANTED and the Complaint is
DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE as to the following Defendasit (1) the ACJC; (2) the
Appellate Division; (3) the Bergen County Fam@purt; (4) the Office of Court Administration;
(5) Judge Victor Ashrafi; (6) Judge Harry G.réedl; (7) Judge William R. DeLorenzo; (8) Judge
Peter Doyne; (9) Judge Gerald C. Escala; (18yduohn C. Kennedy; (11) Judge Ellen L. Koblitz;
(12) Judge Bonnie J. Mizdol; (13) Judge WilliamN&igent; (14) Judge Jerome M. St. John; (15)
Judge Joseph L. Yannotti; (16) Chief Justice StRatiner; (17) Kathy Kana, Esq.; (18) Diana
Moskal; (19) the AGBOE; and (20) DYFS.

The Defendants remaining in the case aréolsws: (1) the Good Shepherd Lutheran

Church, Roger W. Spencer, and Janet Ten@et.uciana Coutinho, Mé&eni Coutinho, Plinio

16 In addition, to the extent that the proceedings in Bergen County Family Court have concluded,
there would not be any procerds for the Court to enjoin.
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Coutinho, and Edward J. Crane; (3) Peter VateAUEsQ.; (4) Roger Radol, Esq.; (5) Alexandra
Stremler, Esq.; (6) Dr. Judith Brown Greif; (7) Lisa Estrin; (8) the Bergen Family Center,
Constance Ritzler, and John Cuittito; (9) Dionosg®s, Sandra Cruz, Erika Frank, Debbie Gomez,
Tara Horne, Ivan Nina, and Paki¥an; (10) Full Circle and Krig Cirelli; (11) Governor Chris
Christie; (12) Bank of America Merrill Lynchand (13) the Office of the County Counsel
(collectively, the “Reraining Defendants”);
As to the Remaining Defendants, the Court rules as follows:

(1) Counts One, Three, and Five are dismisaddH PREJUDICE as to: (a) the

Good Shepherd Lutheran Church, RogerS@encer, and Janet Tenore; (b) Luciana

Coutinho, Marleni Coutinho, Plia Coutinho, and Edward J. Crane; (c) Peter Van

Aulen, Esq.; (d) Roger Radol, Esq.; (e) AledemStremler, Esq.; (f) Dr. Judith Brown

Greif; and (g) Lisa Estrin and/ITHOUT PREJUDICE as to (a) the Bergen Family

Center, Constance Ritzler, and John @uittib) Dionos Burgos, Sandra Cruz, Erika

Frank, Debbie Gomez, Tara Horne, Ivan Niaad Patrick Yan; (c) Full Circle and

Kristin Cirelli; (d) Governor Chris Chrig; and (e) Bank of America Merrill Lynch;

and (f) the Office of the County Counsel;

(2) Count Two is dismissedVITHOUT PREJUDICE as to all Remaining

Defendants;

(3) Count Four is dismissa/ITHOUT PREJUDICE as to the Office of the County

Counsel andWITH PREJUDICE as to all other Remaining Defendants;

(4) Count Six, which is pled only against Mfan Aulen, Mr. Radol, and Ms. Stremler,

is dismissed WITH PREJUDICE as to Mr. Van Aulen andWITHOUT

PREJUDICE as to Mr. Radol and Ms. Stremler;
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(5) Count Seven, which is pled only against KEstrin, Full Circle, and Ms. Cirelli, is
dismissedVITHOUT PREJUDICE ;

(6) Count Eight, which is pled onhagainst Dr. Greif, is dismissedVITH
PREJUDICE;

(7) Count Nine, which is pled only againsetBergen Family Center, Ms. Ritzler, and
Mr. Cuttito, is dismissedVITHOUT PREJUDICE ;

(8) Count Ten, which is pled onlagainst Dr. Greif, the Bgen Family Center, Ms.
Ritzler, Mr. Cuttito, and Ms. Estrin, is dismissadTH PREJUDICE as to Dr. Greif
and WITHOUT PREJUDICE as to the Bergen Family Center, Ms. Ritzler, Mr.
Cuttito, and Ms. Estrin;

(9) Count Eleven is dismiss&tliITH PREJUDICE ; and

(10) Count Twelve is dismisseITHOUT PREJUDICE .

Plaintiff is now on notice of the deficienci@s the Complaint. Plaintiff may file an
amended complaint that complies with FederaleRaf Civil Procedure8(a) and is otherwise
consistent with this Opinion not&x than June 15, 2015. Rule 8fajjuires that the pleading be
“a short and plain statement ... showing that theagér is entitled to relief.” Thus, Plaintiff's
amended complaint should not merely add allegatio the existing ones that have been deemed
deficient. Plaintiff shall make specific, conciagd relevant allegations as to the Defendants who
remain in the case. Failure to file an amendedptaint or to comply withhis Opinion will result

in dismissal of this case with prejedi An appropriate order will follow.

s/ Madeline Cox Arleo
MADELINE COX ARLEO
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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